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3 UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
WESTERN DISTRICT OF WASHINGTON
9 AT TACOMA
10
1 IRA GREEN, INC., CASE NO. 3:11-cv-05796-RJB
Plaintiff, ORDER ON MOTIONS FOR
12 SUMMARY JUDGMENT AND
13 V. MOTIONS TO STRIKE
J.L. DARLING, CORP.,
14
Defendant.
15
16
17 This matter comes before the Court on Riilra Green, Inc.’s Motion for Summary
18 Judgment (Dkt. 58) and Defendant J.L. Darling Corp.’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment
19 (Dkt. 59). The parties also filed several t\aos to Strike. Dkts. 72, 90, 100, 101, and 102. [The
00 Court has considered the pleadings filedupport of and in opposition to the motions and the
file herein.
21
- l. UNCONTESTED FACTS
1. Darling’s ‘940 Patent
23
24
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Defendant J.L. Darling, Corp. (Darling) haddsall-weather papegalled Rite in the
Rain (RITR) paper, for decades, but its pré$erm is the result of a years'-long inventive
process that led to the development of a patesitagleather paper. Qk60, at 2. Darling was
issued a patent on March 8, 2005, entitlece@ttierproof Sheets for Copying, Printing and
Writing and Methods Related Thereto" (U.St.mND. 6,863,940) (‘940 patent). Dkt. 61-2.
Darling’s ‘940 patent did not cover books or notepaatucts comprising plurality of sheets; i
only covered single sheets and thethod for making those sheeBkts. 75-1, at 7-8; 75-2.

2. STORM SAF Notebooks

In the 1980s, Brigade Quartermasters, Ltaig@&de) created STORM SAF, a tradema
that referred to all-weather paper notebookst. B8-3, at 3, 18-19. Shity thereafter, Darling

began manufacturing STORM SAdfi-weather notebooks for Brigade. Dkt. 58-3, at 18, 39.

Darling, as manufacturer ¢ie STORM SAF notebooks, placed the STORM SAF label on the

notebook covers, inserted its RITR paperdaghe STORM SAF notebook covers, and printg

bd

the ‘940 patent marking on the notebook back coipt. 58-3, at 20-23. Brigade, as distributor

of the STORM SAF notebooks, sold the notebooks to the Army and Air Force Exchange
Services (AAFES), a quasi-governmental erttityt operates retail outteon military bases.
Dkt. 58-3, at 4-6.

Darling had no contractual relationship wehigade but instead fulfilled purchase ord¢
as they were submitted. Dkt. 60, at 4. By 2009, Darling would only manufacture the STC
SAF notebooks to Brigade on a prepaid bakis.

3. Green’'s Purchase of Brigade

In 2009, Branch Banking & Trust Companydolosed on Brigade due to financial

difficulties at Brigade. Dkt. 61-1, at 3. Ianuary 2010, Plaintiff Ira Green, Inc. (Green)
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purchased Brigade. Dkts. 61-1, at 4; 71-1, at 12-34. Following Green’s acquisition of Bri
Darling filled outstanding pur@se orders and shipped some STORM SAF notebooks to G
Dkt. 58-3, at 41. In January 2010, Green discussédDarling the possibty of continuing the
manufacturer-distributor relationg. Dkt. 60, at 4. Darlinglected not to use Green as a
distributor. Id. Instead, Darling chose to sell its produtitectly to AAFES using a third party
manufacturer's representative, an entitiedaMilitary Sales & Service Company (MSSY. In
January 2010, Darling informed Green that itvgdono longer sell RITR products to Green fo
distribution to AAFES.Id.

4. Green’s New Chinese Paper

Shortly after January 2010, Green obtainedva s@urce of waterproof paper from Chi
and proceeded to sell notebooks using the new Chinese paper under the STORM SAF tr
Dkt. 61-1, at 9. Green did not place any ‘mad€lmma’ labels on its notebooks from its first
sale until sometime after March 2, 2011, when a Customs and Border Patrol Agent order
Green to place the ‘made in Chidabel on Green’s notebooks. Dk&-3, at 5-7; 87-4, at 2-6

5. Alleged Defamatory Statements about Green’s Chinese Paper

In May 2011, authorized by Darling’s Co-Presint, Todd Silver (Dkt. 73-5, at 19-20),
Darling employees sent emails to military personnel stating that Darling has been informe
“copycat product is flooding the market” anéthhe e-mail recipida should “stop the
bleeding” by performing their own tests on fireducts. Dkt. 73-8. In reference to Green’s
Chinese paper, Mr. Silver stated in an attadbtdr to these e-mails that an unidentified firm
has “done their best to creat@gucts that are confusingly similep ours.” Dkt. 73-11. The
letter also stated that “livesald depend on the tactical notes ttesty couldn’t ecord or turned

illegible into mush.”Id. Finally, the letter stated thatldrs in the field thought they were

gade,

reen.

na

ademark.
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buying Darling products but irssad had unintentionally bought Green’s notebooks and wer
dissatisfied with the qualityld.

Also, around May 2011, MSS employees delivered a letter, referred to as an actiol
to AAFES stores, which included statements Gigen’s paper product “has such substandg
gualities, that it can be consigerdysfunctional.” Dkt. 73-12. Emaction item also stated tha
“failure to secure such notes ciaad to compromising a missionld. It further stated that
Green markets its all-weather notebotik$ook exactlike Darling’s. Id. It directed field
personnel to encourage AAFES store managersmove Green's notebooks from store shel
and request no replenishment orddds. Another MSS employee generated and circulated &
script for meetings with AAFES store manageiBkt. 73-13. The scripttates that “offering
this knockoff product to the troops can potentiaglbynpromise a mission and virtually put live
at risk.” 1d. It requests that store managers ens@ps are not offered “such a misleading
product.” Id. On June 3, 2011, Darling’s Co-Presidegitver, emailed a senior buyer at
AAFES, Paul Atherton, referencirneir earlier discussion abouth& Chinese replica issue.”
Dkt. 73-14. Mr. Silver stated that “(o)ur feextik from soldiers, officarand our own testing is
that the Chinese product significantly underperfoand will result in-situ field failure.’ld.

On or about June 13, 2011, Mr. Silver senttgefeand a video tdir. Atherton. Dkt. 73-
15. Mr. Silver stated thabldiers purchased the Greenstebooks thinking they were
purchasing Darling’s notebooksit were disappointedd. In addition, Mr. Silver stated that
Green’s paper “begins to degrade” aftéew@ minutes after soaking in wated.

6. Tests Comparing Green’s and Darling’s Paper

Sometime after Green obtained its new sewf Chinese paper, Darling conducted af

internal test comparing Greerasd Darling’s waterproof quai and found that Green’s paper

117

nitem,

rd

Vves

[72)

N
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did not qualify as weatherproof or waterpro@fkt. 60, at 6. Also, in May 2011, Green hired

independent laboratory to tesethuality of its new Chinese papeDkts. 58-9, at 6-9; 58-11, at

9. The laboratory found that the writing on aiteewas legible and no tearing was noted wh
exposed to water. Dkt. 58-11, at 6. Irpfenber 2011, as a result of AAFES’s own test,
AAFES found Darling’s paper txeptable” and Green’s Chinese paper “swollen, frayed, ar
appeared fragile to the touch.” Dkt. 61-51d@t At some point #reafter, AAFES stopped
buying Green’s notebooks and instead bolaming’s notebooks. Dkt. 61-1, at 49.

Il PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On September 29, 2011, Green filed a complagainst Darling alleging false marking
under the Patent Act, 35 U.S.C. §292 (Counaihfair competition in violation of the Lanham
Act, 15 U.S.C. 81125(a) (Count Il) and in \atbn Washington’s Consumer Protection Act,
RCW 19.86 (Count Ill); and businessfamation (Count 1V). Dkt. 1. Green claims that Darli
(1) knowingly marked its ‘940 patent on Green’salbmioks rather than individual sheets, des
Darling being denied patent claims coverimapks and notepads comprising a plurality of
weatherproof sheets, in orderdeceive the public and causgm to Green; (2) suppressed
competition by intentionally misrepresenting that its ‘940 patent covers Green’s notebook
products; and (3) knowingly made false anthdeatory statements about Green’s notebook
products to retailers and military exchangesjsing injury to Green’s business. Dkt. 1.

On November 11, 2011, Darling filed a MotionRmiss for failure to state a claim.
Dkt. 13. On December 25, 2011, the Gadenied Darling’s Motion. Dkt. 21.

On December 19, 2011, Darling filed an ansamd five counterclaims against Green.
Dkt. 22. Darling alleges thregolations of the Lanham Aci,5 U.S.C. § 1125 (Counts I-1lI),

and two violations of Washington’s Consunfeotection Act, RCWL.9.86 (Counts IV and V).
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Specifically, Darling alleges under Courthht Green’s STORM SAF products are not
waterproof as advertised, thereby deceivirggghblic and injuring Dding. Under Count I,
Darling alleges that Green omitted the platerigin of China on Green’'s STORM SAF
products, thereby deceiving consumers and imguBarling. Under Count lll, Darling alleges
that Green placed its corporate address oViBence, Rhode Island, on its products, thereby
deceiving consumers and injuring Darling. X2, at 11-13. Count IV mimics Count I, but
alleges violation of Washington law, and CoMntimics Counts Il and 111, but alleges violatig

of Washington law.

n

On April 16, 2012, Darling filed its First Amended Answer and Counterclaims, adding

two more counterclaims of trademark infringent under 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a) and Washingtg
State common law (Counts VI and VII). Under CouhtDarling alleges that Green uses a ¢
or colorable imitation of Darling’s STORM SAFademark. Count VII mimics Count VI, but
alleges violation of common law.

I1. CONTESTEDFACTS

1. There is a dispute over whether Darlialgely marked its notebooks by placing the
‘940 patent marking on the back of the hmteks rather than on each individual sheet.

2. Assuming Darling’s ‘940 patent placementailse, there is a dispute over whether
Darling knew this was a false placement. Gragjues that Darling knew the placement was
false because the US Patent and Trademarkédienied Darling’s patent claims covering
books and notepads comprising a plurality of weattoef sheets. Dkt. 1, at 9-10. Darling
states that, upon legal adviaadebusiness judgment, it decided in good faith to not mark the

individual sheets with its patebtit rather mark the notebook’adk cover. Dkt. 59, at 9-10, 2(

bn

bRy

'
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3. There is a dispute over whether Darlmagrking its ‘940 patent on the back of the
notebooks caused Green to suffer injury.

4. There is a dispute overetiquality of Green’s waterpof paper. In September 2011,
AAFES found Darling’s paper txeptable” and Green’s papewllen, frayed, and appeared
fragile to the touch.” Dkts. 59, at 12-1&t-5, at 17. In May 2011he laboratory hired by
Green found that the writing on all tests was legdrhd no tearing was noted on its paper. D

58, at 12; 58-11, at 6. Darling conducted derimal test comparing Green’s and Darling’s

waterproof quality and found that Green’s papédrrht qualify as weatherproof or waterproof.

Dkt. 60, at 6.

5. There is a dispute over whether tharesentations made by MSS, the exclusive
vendor of Darling’s products tmilitary exchanges, can be impdtto Darling under an agency
theory. The parties dispute the dsgof control Darling had over MSS.

6. There a dispute over the assignment of the STORM SAF trademark and who hg
control over the trademark. Darling argues,timthe January 2010 secured party purchase
Brigade assigned all trademark rights to Grexrept STORM SAF (Dkts. 58-10, at 2-4; 71-2
3-7), and Darling had effective control over tredtemark (Dkt. 70, at 23). Green argues tha
Brigade at all times owned the STORM SAF trademark, had effective control over the
trademark, and eventually assigned theemnaark rights to Green. Dkt. 58, at 22.

7. There a dispute over injury caused by Gream&abeling the country of origin of its
notebook product. The parties dispute whemthe ‘made in China’ stickers were placed on
Green’s notebooks and how many notebamkentually had those stickers.

V. MOTIONS TO STRIKE

1. Green’s Motions to Strike

kts.

1d

, at

[
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JUDGMENT AND MOTIONS TO STRIKE- 7



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

Green moves to strike two portions ofrlday’s Motion for Partal Summary Judgment:
(1) references to the document showing AAFES8& results comparin@reen’s and Darling’s
waterproof paper (Dkt. 59, at 8) and the docunitself (Dkt. 61-5, at 1); because the documsg
is not authenticated and is inadmissible hearaag;(2) references to settlement discussions
between the parties (Dkt. 59, at 8), because meterto settlement digssions is prohibited
pursuant to Federal Rule of Evidence 408. Dkt. 72, at 10-11.

Darling argues that the Court should gant Green’s Motion t&trike because (1)
AAFES'’s internal test results are authenticae@ business record; and (2) Darling refereng
settlement discussions to show Green’s motivdfmging this lawsuit, an exception to Feder
Rule of Evidence 408. Dkt. 90, at 7-8.

In its Surreply, Green moves to strikeeth portions of Darling’s Reply in Further

Support of its Partial Motion for Summary Judgm@itt. 90). Dkt. 102. Green argues that t

nt

eS

al

he

Court should strike (1) the testimony of an A% employee regarding the custom and praciice

of AAFES (Dkt. 91-1, at 1-5) because the employlid not give an adequate evidentiary bas
for his opinions; (2) the testimony of GreeRgesident concerning whether Green knew whyj
AAFES stopped buying Green’s notebooks (Dkt. 6@&-4) because the testimony is inaccura
and (3) references to (Dkt. 90, at 11) and theugwmnt (Dkt. 91-2) showanthat Darling filed a
divisional application for its ‘940 patent becatisat document is a continuation application,
a divisional one, and Darling already admitted itmidd file a divisionakpplication. Dkt. 102.

2. Darling’s Motions to Strike

Darling requests that theoGrt strike three parns of Green’s Response to Darling’s
Motion for Partial Summary Judgmie (1) references to doments showing internal MSS e-

mails (Dkt. 72, at 6, 23-24) and the documents gewes (Dkts. 73-12; 73-13), because they

is

ite;

not

are
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not properly authenticated and are inadmissktgarsay; (2) references to the document
containing testimony of Green’s Presidergarling why AAFES bougHbarling’s products
(Dkt. 72, at 19) and the document itself (Dkts.4{ &t 12-13), because the testimony is hears
and (3) references to the document containiaggn®ny of Green’s damages expert (Dkt. 72,
10) and the document itself (Dkt. 84), because xiper did not set forth the factual basis for
opinions. Dkt. 90, at 5-7.

In Green’s Opposition to Defendant J.L. D&y Corp.’s Motion to Strike, Green argue|

that (1) the internal MSS e-mails are autheated and are not inadmissible hearsay because

MSS is an agent of Darling; (2) Darling waivigsl hearsay challenge tbhe testimony of Green’
President recounting why AAFES bought Darlm@roducts because Diag used this exact
evidence in its Motion for Partial Summary Judgnn(Dkt. 59, at 7); and (3) Green’s damage

expert adequately articulatéhe foundation for her colusions. Dkt. 100, at 2-7.

hay;
at

her

[

[92)

In its Surreply, Darling argues that the Calrould strike (1) Green’s Opposition in tofal

(Dkt. 100) because it is not a proper surreffty;the Declaration of Brigade’s President
concerning Darling’s control @ the STORM SAF trademark KD 88, at 2-3) because it is
inconsistent with other testimong8) the Declaration of Brigade’s President concerning the
of mind of Green and Branch Banking and Ti@empany (Dkt. 88, at 4) because Brigade’s
President does not have perddaeowledge of this informatin; and (4) the Declaration of
Brigade’s President referring to a documdmdwing a subsequent trademark assignment (D
88, at 4-5) because this legal documentrim$een produced in discovery. Dkt. 101.

V. DISCUSSION OF MOTIONS TO STRIKE

“A trial court can only consider admissibévidence in ruling on a motion for summar

judgment.” Orr v. Bank of Am., NT & SA&85 F.3d 764, 773 (9th Cir. 2002). “In a summary

State

Kt.

ORDER ON MOTIONS FOR SUMMARY
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judgment motion, documents authenticated thrquagisonal knowledge must be ‘attached to
affidavit that meets the requirements of [FediR ] 56(e) and the affiant must be a person
through whom the exhibits could be admitte iavidence.’ [citation omitted] However, a
proper foundation need not bdaddished through personal knlegge but can rest on any
manner permitted by Federal Rule of Evidence 901(b) or @R &t 773-74. “In the absence ¢
a procedural rule or statutegarsay is inadmissible unlesssidefined as non-hearsay under

Federal Rule of Evidence 801(d) or fallglm a hearsay exception under Rules 803, 804 or|

807.” Id. at 778.
1. The document showing AAFES testukts comparing Darling’s and Green'’s
waterproof paper is an AAFES business re@uthenticated by the affidavit of an AAFES

employee, Dennis Walker. Therefore, the Cstduld not strike the AAFES test results (DK{.

61-5, at 17) or reference to them.

2. The reference to settlement discussior. (80, at 7) should be stricken pursuant t(
Federal Rule of Evidence 408. Motive evideshewing why a party brght a lawsuit is not
sufficient to overcome the prohibition on referencing settlement discussions.

3. The reference to the testimony off@hFES employee regarding the custom and
practice of AAFES (Dkt. 91-1, at 1-5) should het stricken because the testimony provides
adequate evidentiary basissimpport the employee’s opinions.

4. The reference to the testimony of Gred?rasident concerning whether Green kne
why AAFES stopped buying Green’s product (Dkt. 663-d) should not be stricken because
any alleged inaccuracies in the testimony.

5. The reference to the document purportmghow that Darling filed a divisional

application for its ‘940 pateriDkt. 90, at 11) and the document itself (Dkt. 91-2) should be

an
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J
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W
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stricken because Darling has already admittedithléd not file a divisional application and thg

purported document is not what it claims to be.

A\1”4

6. The internal MSS e-mails (Dkts. 73-12; 73-13) were produced pursuant to a subpoena

and contain sufficient information for authentioat Because there @ issue of fact over
whether MSS is an agent of Darling, the Gaannot determine on summary judgment whet
the e-mails contain admissible hearsay pursieaRederal Rule of Evidence 801(d)(2)(C).
Therefore, reference to thesemails should not be stricken.

7. The testimony of Green’s President régay why AAFES boughbDarling’s products
(Dkt. 73-4, at 12-13) is inadssible hearsay, and the hearshgllenge was not waived by
Darling because Darling did notsduss this testimony as Greeaigis Darling did. Therefore,
the Court should strike reference to the testiynoinGreen’s President at Dkt. 73-4, at 12-13.

8. Green’s damages expert laid a sufficiennhdation for her opinions and conclusion
and therefore reference to hestimony should not be stricken.

9. Local Rule 7(g) for the Western DistraftWashington provides that “[rlequests to
strike material contained in attached to submissions of oppagparties shall not be present
in a separate motion to strikeyt shall instead be includedtime responsive brief, and will be
considered with the underlying tan. The single exception to thisle is for requests to strike
material contained in or attaeth to a reply brief, in whichase the opposing party may file a
surreply requesting that the court strike the maitteri. .” Green’s Opposition (Dkt. 100) is a
separate response to Darling’s motion tdkst(Dkt. 90). Green edady properly filed a
Surreply. Dkt. 101. Therefore, Gree®gposition (Dkt. 100) should be stricken.

10. The Declaration of Brigade’s Presitleancerning Darling’s control over the

STORM SAF trademark (Dkt. 88, 2t3) should not be stricken merely because Darling clai

her

D
o

ms
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that the declaration is inconsistent witther testimony of Brigade’s President.

11. The Declaration of Brigade’s Presideancerning the state of mind of Green and
Branch Banking and Trust Company (Dkt. 88, aslguld not be stricken because Brigade’s
President does not actually prdgiany statements regarding state of mind of any party in
that portion of his Declaration.

12. The Declaration of Brigade’s Presideriereng to a document showing a subsequ
trademark assignment (Dkt. 88, at 4-5) shouldogostricken because this legal document hg
been produced in discovery (DkB-10), contrary to Darling’proffered reason for excluding i

VI. MOTIONS FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

On August 28, 2012, Green filed a Motion for Summary Judgment and Darling file
Motion for Partial Summary Judgent. Dkts. 58 and 59.
1. Darling’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment
Darling argues that it is étled to summary judgment on all of Green’s claims as we
Counts Il and Il of Darling’s claims. Dkt. 59As to Green’s False Patent Marking, Lanham
Act, and Washington Consumer Protection ActroR{Counts |, I, and Ill), Darling argues th

Green fails to raise an issue of fact over \Wwhe{1) the patent label placement on Darling’s

ent

| as

notebooks is false; (2) Darling intended to deeeonsumers through its patent label placement;

(3) Darling placed its patent ldka bad faith; and (4) Green has suffered damages. Dkt. 59
11. Asto Green’s business defamation claimui@ V), Darling argus that the claim is
actually for product disparagement, and Greenrtad shown (1) that the statements caused
damages; (2) that Darling is legally responsiblestatements made by MSS; and (3) that the
statements made were not privileged. B at 22. As to Darling’s Lanham Act claims

(Counts Il and Ill), Darling argudbat there is no issue adt that Green displayed its

, at
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Providence, Rhode Island address on its notebadnile omitting the mper country of origin
from August 2010 to March 2011. Dkt. 59, at 27.

In response, Green argues that there isqre of fact regarding Green’s false patent

marking claim (Count I) because (1) Darling wni¢ had no patent covering books and notepads

that comprised a plurality of weatherprooésts; (2) any good faith or intent to deceive
arguments must be determined by the fact fingled; (3) competitive injurys presumed. Dkt.
72, at 20. As to Green’s Lanham Act and Wiagton Consumer Protection Act claims (Counts

Il and Ill), Green argues that (Darling improperly stated the lawnd thus has not adequatel

<

pled for summary judgment dhese counts; (2) consumer deception is presumed because
Darling falsely marked its notebooks; (3) Greeas slaown actual damages; and (4) capacity fto
deceive the public is a question for the faatér. Dkt. 72, at 28. As to Green’s business
defamation claim (Count V), Greexrgues that (1) Darling is lige for MSS’s statements under
an apparent authority agency theory; (2) pnyileged communication i® be determined by
the fact finder; and (3) damages are presunidd. 72, at 29. As to Darling’s Lanham Act
claims (Counts Il and IIl), Green directs theutt to its arguments in Green’s Motion for
Summary Judgment (DKb8). Dkt. 72, at 33.

In reply, Darling argues that Green (1) nas established that MSS is Darling’s agent
and therefore cannot prove defamation; (2) hat proved that Green has suffered actual
damages from a competitive injury by Darlipigcing its patent marking on the back of the
notebook covers; and (3) has not shown thatlleged defamatory statements caused actua|
damages. Dkt. 90.

2. Green’s Motion for Summary Judgment

ORDER ON MOTIONS FOR SUMMARY
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Green argues that it is entitled to sumnjadgment on all of Darling’s counterclaims.
Dkt. 58. As to Counts | and IV, Green argues artling fails to raise an issue of fact over
whether (1) Green’s marketing of its notebooksvaterproof is not terally false; and (2)
consumers were deceived by the waterproof etar. Dkt. 58, at 16. As to Counts Il and V
Green argues (1) that the requestan injunction regarding inaduate labeling of its Chinese
notebooks is moot; and (2) Darling did not shojurn  Dkt. 58, at 18. As to Counts Il and \
Green argues that Darling did reftow that including Greenaldress of Providence, Rhode
Island, was not a literally true statement. @&, at 21. As to Counts VI and VII, Green argy
that Darling has not shown (1) that Darlings a protectable interest in the STORM SAF
trademark; and (2) that consumers are confbydtie parties’ two notebook versions. Dkt. 5
at 22.

In response, Darling argues that Green isamtitled to summary judgment as to Coun

and IV because there is an issaf material fact over wheth&reen’s marketing of its notebook

products as waterproof is literally false. Dk, at 13. As to Counts Il and V, Darling argues

(1) that an injunction is still ggopriate; (2) that Green failed péace the countrgf origin on its
product; and (3) that Darling does not need mashctual injury. Dkt. 70, at 16. As to Count
Il and V, Darling argues that there is an issue of material fact over whether (1) only placi
Green’s business address of Providence, Rhodedlgkliterally false; and (2) consumers we
confused by its placement. Dkt. 70, at 21.té&\€ounts VI and VII, Darling argues that (1)
there is an issue of materialct over whether Green, as sussm to distributor Brigade, or
Darling, as manufacturer, owtt'e STORM SAF trademark; and (2) there is actual evidencg

consumer confusion. Dkt. 70, at 22.
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In reply, Green argues that it is entitled to summary judgment as to Count | becaus
Darling has not shown (1) that &m marketing its notebooks as wpateof is literally false; ang
(2) a likelihood that consumers were deceived by this marketing. Dkt. 86, at 7-9. Asto C
Green argues that (1) Darling has not shownaatamages in its sales to AAFES; and (2) a
request for an injunction is moot becaused&sradhered the ‘made in China’ stickers
immediately after the Customs and Border Panspection. Dkt. 86, at 11. As to Count I,
Green argues that Darling has not shown that a significant number of consumers were de
Dkt. 86, at 13. As to Counts VI and VII, Greargues that (1) Darling isstates facts related t
Brigade’s sale to Green in ord® show that Darling, rather than Green, owns the STORM
trademark; and (2) Darling has no evidenceasfsumer confusion over of the parties’ two
notebook versions. Dkt. 86, at 13-16.

Vil. SUMMARY JUDGMENT STANDARD

Summary judgment is proper onfithe pleadings, the discovery and disclosure mate
on file, and any affidavits showahthere is no genuine issue asitry material fact and that th
movant is entitled to judgmenst a matter of law. Fed.Rv@P. 56(c). The moving party is
entitled to judgment as a matter of law wlilea nonmoving party fails to make a sufficient
showing on an essential element of a clairthe case on which the nonmoving party has the
burden of proof.Celotex Corp. v. Catretd77 U.S. 317, 323 (1985). There is no genuine is
of fact for trial where the record, taken as a whoteild not lead a ration#iier of fact to find
for the non moving partyMatsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Co#75 U.S. 574, 586
(1986)(nonmoving party must pesg specific, significant probatvevidence, not simply “som
metaphysical doubt.”)See alsd-ed.R.Civ.P. 56(e). Convergeh genuine dispute over a

material fact exists if there is sufficieewidence supporting the claimed factual dispute,

5
)
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requiring a judge or jury to resolviee differing versions of the truttAnderson v. Liberty
Lobby, Inc, 477 .S. 242, 253 (1986);W. Elec. Service Inc. v. Pacific Electrical Contractors
Association809 F.2d 626, 630 {oCir. 1987).

The determination of the existence of a matdect is often a close question. The col
must consider the substantive evidentiary butdahthe nonmoving partyiust meet at trial —
e.g., a preponderance of the @rnde in most civil casefAnderson477 U.S. at 254, T.\\Elect.
Service InG.809 F.2d at 630. The court must resolve fasyual issues of controversy in favo

of the nonmoving party only whenelHacts specifically attestday that party contradict facts

specifically attested by the moving party. Th@moving party may not merely state that it wi

discredit the moving party’s evidence at trial, in the hopes thd¢eee can be developed at tr
to support the claimT.W. Elect. Service InaB09 F.2d at 630 (relying olnderson, supra
Conclusory, non specific statements in affida&its not sufficient, and “missing facts” will not
be “presumed.”Lujan v. National Wildlife Federatiom197 U.S. 871, 888-89 (1990).

VIIl. DISCUSSION OF MOTDNS FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

Green’s Count I|: False Patent Marking, 35 U.S.C. § 292.

Green contends that Darling falsely markisdoatent by placing it on the STORM SAK

notebook back cover rather than on each indivigagke, that Darling intended to deceive the
public by this placement, and that Green was igj@®a result. Darling argues that its paten

marking placement is not false, and even if the placement is false, Darling did not know it

urt

-

ial

t

was

false, and Darling acted in good faith. AlsorIdey argues that Green did not show competitive

injury.
A private party will be successful in a civiltam of false patent marking if the claimar

can prove that the defendant (1) falsely markedrtiole with the word ‘patent’ or similar; (2)

—
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with the intent to deceive the public; and y&ich resulted in the claimant suffering a
competitive injury. 35 U.S.C. § 292(a). Knledge that the marking was false creates a
rebuttable presumption oftent to deceive the publidPequignot v. Solo Cup C&®08 F.3d
1356, 1362-63 (Fed. Cir. 2010). The presumptionbsarebutted by a showing of good faith.
Id. at 1364.

Competitive injury is more difficult to dme. As the parties point out, Congress
amended 35 U.S.C. § 292(b) inpgBamber of 2011 in order toeate a private cause of action
only when a competitive injury can be assertRagers v. Tristar Products, In2011-1494,
2012 WL 1660604, at *3 (Fed. Cir. May 2, 20172he purpose of the amendment is to limit
abusive litigation and to perntlhose who have actually suffered a competitive injury to be
compensatedld. (citing 157 Cong. Rec. S5319-03 &330 (Sen.Kyl)). Congress did not
define competitive injury and the Federal Citdas yet to rule on this new amendment. The
District Court for the Central District of Cabifnia, however, has ruled on the level of proof
required to show competitive injuryJ.S. Rubber Recycling, Inc. v. ECORE Jr2011 U.S.
Dist. LEXIS 154151 (C.D. Cal. Dec. 12, 2011). “ItA&intiff's burden to come forward with
evidence that Defendant's false marking was actually the cause of its lost khlat*14.
Causation and proof of lost sales, loss of rejmrtaor goodwill, or inability to freely market or
price products are required garvive summary judgmentd.

As noted above, there are contested feegarding whether the ‘940 patent marking

placement was false, whether Darling knew it wésefeand whether Darling acted in good faijith.

However, Green has not presented an issue of fact regarding competitive injury. Green h
presented no facts showing loss of sajesdwill or ability to market that wasusedoy

Darling placing its ‘940 patemharking on the back of the nbi@ok covers rather than on the

asS
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individual RITR sheets. This causation is aessary element of the recent amendments to 85

U.S.C. § 292. Therefore, summary judgmdrtidd be granted for Darling on Green’s false

patent marking claim (Count I).

Green’s Count II: Unfair Competition/Violation of Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a).

Green’s contentions and Darling’s couatgguments under Green’s Lanham Act claim
are substantially similar to those underfaise patent marking claim above (Count I).

“Under the Lanham Act, a prima facie casguiees a showing thdf) the defendant

made a false statement eithboat the plaintiff's orts own product; (2) the statement was made

in commercial advertisement or promotion), {{3e statement actually deceived or had the
tendency to deceive a substantial segment alidsence; (4) the deceptiass material; (5) the

defendant caused its false statement to entastate commerce; and (B)e plaintiff has been

or is likely to be injured as@sult of the false statement, eitlgrdirect diversion of sales from

itself to the defendant, or by a lessening of gatb@ssociated with the plaintiff's product.”
Newcal Indus., Inc. v. Ikon Office Solutj@13 F.3d 1038, 1052 (9th Cir. 2008). “Even if an
advertisement is not literally false, reliefagailable under [the] Lanham Act . . . if it can be
shown that the advertisement has misledfesed, or deceived the consuming public.”
Southland Sod Farms v. Stover Seed F.3d 1134, 1140 (9th Cir. 1997). If an
advertisement or statement ilally false, then causation addmages are presumed, unless
defendant can show otherwiséd. at 1146.

As noted above, there are contestedsfaatrounding whetherghpatent marking’s
placement was false, whether Darling knew it was false, and whether Green sustained a
likelihood of injury. Because thelis an issue of fact on thietal falsity of the ‘940 patent

placement, the Court cannot determine if Gnerist also show causation and damages.
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Therefore, the Court should deny summary judgtrior Darling as to Green’s Lanham Act
claim (Count II).

Green’s Count Il : Consumer Protection Act Violation, RCW 19.86.

Green’s contentions and Diag’s counterarguments under Green’s Consumer Prote
Act claim are substantially similar to thoseder the above false patent marking and Lanhan
Act claims (Counts | and I1).

“The five elements of a private Consun®otection Act action inalde: (1) an unfair o

deceptive act or practice; (2) in the condudirafle or commerce; (3) which impacts the publjc

interest; (4) injury to the plaiiffs in their business or propertgnd (5) a causal link between t
unfair or deceptive act drthe injury suffered.”Mason v. Mortgage Am., Incl14 Wash. 2d
842, 852, 792 P.2d 142, 147 (1990).

As noted above, there are contested fagtsounding whether éhpatent marking’s
placement was false, whether Darling knew it was false, and whether Green sustained in
However, Green has not shown any facts demdirgirthat Green was injured or will likely bg
injuredas a resulof Darling placing the ‘940 patent mkéng on the back cover of the all-
weather notebooks rather than on the individual sheets of RITR paper. Therefore, summa
judgment should be granted for Darling on Gre€osisumer Protection Act claim (Count IlI)

Green’s Count IV: Business Defamation/Product Disparagement.

It is unclear whether Green aims to branglaim of business defamation, or a claim of
product disparagement, or both. Under either or both theories, Green contends that Darl
made false statements about Green’s papetygts, causing AAFES taot purchase Green’s
products, and thereby causing damage to Green’s business. Darling contends that these

communications were not false, were privéddgas a common interest, were not made by

ction
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Darling, and there is no evidence that AAFEBetkon the statements when choosing not to
purchase any more @reen’s products.

The elements a plaintiff must establishaidefamation case are falsity, an unprivilege
communication, fault, and damagesagreponderance of the evidendéohr v. Grant 153
Wash. 2d 812, 822, 108 P.3d 768, 773 (2005). To ddrmatas$ault, a private plaintiff must
show that the defendant actadeast negligently in making the false statemelise v. Wisge
97 Wash. App. 950, 957, 989 P.2d 1148 (1999).

To show an unprivileged communication, a pldi must prove that the declarant and
the recipient did not have a common intereghe subject matter of the communicatidd.

The focus of a common interest analysis is tiheimship of the partie® the subject matter,
not to each otherld. at 959.

In addition to defamation, “[i]t is the rutbat where a statement only disparages the
guality of plaintiff's goods, the statemenaigtionable if special damages are pleaded and
proved.” Waechter v. Carnation Cos Wash. App. 121, 126-27, 485 P.2d 1000 (1971). Spe
damages require a plaintiff ta@w that disparaging statememtsre a substantial factor in
causing specific injury to plaintiff. 42 A.L.Rth 318 § 13 (1985); Restatement (First) of Tor|
632 (1938).

“On the other hand, it is the rule thafalmatory words spoken of a person, which in
themselves prejudice him in his professioadé, vocation, or officggre slanderous and
actionable per se unless they are either true or privileged [citations omitted]. A statemen{
published in circumstances thabhlte both of the just citedlas, i.e., it may disparage the
guality of the product and at tlkame time imply the owner or vendor is dishonest, fraudule

incompetent, thus affecting the owner or vendau'siness reputation. In such circumstances
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action may be brought for defamation as well as for disparagemafatéchter5 Wash. App. al
126-27.

Here, Darling does not contend that thegdl defamatory statements are not false.
However, there are several comgekfacts regarding pilege, agency, and fault. Even if MSS
was an agent of Darling and MSS’s stateme®A&ES can therefore henputed onto Darling,
there are issues of fact concerning whether AARB&thin the common interest of the subje
matter of the communications. Additionally, assuming that MSS was an agent of Darling,
are issues of fact regardimgnether Darling and MSS actedgtigently in making the false

statements because Darling, Green, and AAHBESBsted the quality of Darling and Green’s

paper and arrived at different resul&urther, there is an issueroaterial fact regarding whether

Darling’s alleged disparagement caused AAR&Stop purchasing Green’s products. The
statements themselves and AAFES'’s interngting create inferences showing causation ang
the lack thereof. Therefore, Green’s bussdefamation and/or product disparagement claif
are not appropriate for summandpgment and should be denied.

Darling’s Count | : Lanham Act Violation, 15 U.S.C. § 1125.

Darling contends that Green falsely marksdroducts as waterproof thereby deceivi
consumers and causing injury to Darling. Greentends that its prodtscare waterproof, and
that there is no evidence that customers wleeived or that Ding suffered injury.

As stated under Green’s Lanham Act claim (CdDnif an advertiserant or statement i
literally false, then causation and damagespresumed, unless the defendant can show
otherwiseld. at 1146.

As noted above, there are contested factgdayathe quality of Green’s paper produg

as waterproof. Because there are issuéscbiconcerning the lital falsity of green’s

there
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waterproof paper, the Court catletermine if Darling must &b show causation and damagj
Therefore, the Court should deny summaidgment for Green on Darling’s first Lanham Act
claim (Count I).

Darling’s Counts Il and 11l : Lanham Act Violation, 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a).

Darling contends that Green falsely marilee country of origin, thereby deceiving
consumers and causing injury to Green. Greereoaistthat any mistaken marking of country
origin was remedied and is now moot, anal tihere is no evidence that customers were
deceived or that Darling suffered injury.

While there is an issue of fact over whaard how many of Green’s notebook producty
eventually received the oect ‘made in China’ stickers, theigeno issue of fact that Green dig
not place the proper country ofigin on its notebook products eh it first distributed those
products. Because the lack of sticker placames a literally false omission, causation and
damages are presumed unless Green can rebprédsumption. Green has shown no facts to
rebut. Because Darling and Green both regggemmary judgment on these two claims,
summary judgment should be granted and juddrogliability only entered for Darling, and
summary judgment should be denied for Gram Darling’s second and third Lanham Act
claims (Counts Il and III).

Darling’s Count IV and V : Violation of Washington’s Gasumer Protection Act, RCW
19.86.

Darling’s contentions and Green'’s cogwrarguments under Darling’s Consumer
Protection Act claims are substantially simila those under Darling’s Lanham Act claims

above (Counts I, Il, and IlI).

of
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“The five elements of a private Consuniptection Act action inalde: (1) an unfair or
deceptive act or practice; (2) in the condudrafle or commerce; (3) which impacts the publ
interest; (4) injury to the plaiiffs in their business or propertgnd (5) a causal link between t
unfair or deceptive act drthe injury suffered."Mason v. Mortgage Am., Incl14 Wash. 2d
842, 852, 792 P.2d 142, 147 (1990).

As noted above, there are contested facts regarding the marking of Green’s paper|
waterproof, and whether Darling suffered injegused by Green not properly marking the

country of origin and marking the notebo@sswaterproof. Unlike under the Lanham Act,

Washington’s Consumer Protectidiot contains no presumptions tscausation and damages.

Darling has presented no facts showing damagésat Green caused damages. Therefore,
summary judgment should be granted for Greeiarling’s Consumer Protection Act claims
(Counts IV and V).

Darling’s Count VI and VIl : Trademark Infringement.

It is unclear whether Darlingursues its trademark infringeent claim under 15 U.S.C.
1125 or § 1114. Given that both parties cit§ tl25 but perform an analysis under § 1114,
Court will agree that the analysis shouldpeeformed under the framework of § 1114. Darlin
contends that Green knowighfringed upon Darling’s ownership of the STORM SAF
trademark by selling substantially simitzopies of the STORM SAF notebook, thereby
deceiving consumers and causing injury to DarliRlaintiff argues that it owns the STORM
SAF trademark, and even if it does not, themigvidence that consumers were deceived o
that Darling suffered injury.

“To prevail on a claim of trademark infigement under the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. §

1114, a party must prove: (1) thahds a protectible [sic] ownershiterest in the mark; and (2
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that the defendant's use of the marlkisly to cause consumer confusioriNetwork
Automation, Inc. v. Advanced Sys. Concepts, 638 F.3d 1137, 1144 (9th Cir. 2011).

“When proving ownership of a trademark, fedeegjistration of thenark is prima facie

evidence that the registranttiee owner of the mark. Lanham Act § 7(b), 15 U.S.C. § 1057(b);

Lanham Act § 33(a), 15 U.S.C. § 1115(a). Therefore, the regisdrgranted a presumption of
ownership, dating to the filing date of the apation for federal registration, and the challeng
must overcome this presumption by a preponderance of the evid&Semgbku Works Ltd. v.
RMC Int'l, Ltd, 96 F.3d 1217, 121&s modified 97 F.3d 1460 (9th Cir. 1996).

When there is no clear registrant, dsipresume that the manufacturer, in a
manufacturer-distributor relatship, owns the trademarkd. at 1220. “[T]he distributor may
rebut the presumption in favor of the manufiaet, and courts look to various factors when
determining which party has the supe right of ownership, including:

(1) which party invented and first affixed the mark onto the product;

(2) which party's name appeared with the trademark;

(3) which party maintained the qualiand uniformity of the product; and

(4) with which party the public identifietthe product and to whom purchasers made

complaints.

Furthermore, courts will also consider s party possesses the goodwill associated
the product, or which party the pubbelieves stands behind the produdd’

In addition to the trademark ownership facttingre are eight factors that courts weigh
determining whether consumers would likelydemfused by related goods: “[1] strength of th
mark; [2] proximity of the goods; [3] similarity ahe marks; [4] evidence of actual confusion

[5] marketing channels used; [6] type of goodd the degree of care &k to be exercised by

er
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e
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the purchaser; [7] defendant's intent in sehegcthe mark; and [8] likelihood of expansion of t
product lines.”Network Automation, Inc. v. Advanced Sys. Concepts,688.F.3d 1137, 1145
(9th Cir. 2011).

Here, there is no evidence showing that Bdig or Darling has aderal registration to
the STORM SAF trademark. As noted above,dlae contested factggarding who controlleq
the STORM SAF trademark, whether consummegse confused by the two notebooks now or
the market, and whether Darling suffered igjuThe contested facts preclude summary

judgment on Darling’s Counts VI and VII.

Therefore, it is hereb@ RDERED that

Green’s Motions to Strike a@RANTED IN PART andDENIED IN PART for the
purposes of this summary judgment order onlye Tourt will strike reference to settlement
discussions (Dkt. 60, at 7)nad reference to the documgnirporting to show Darling’s
divisional patent applation (Dkt. 90, at 11) and the docurhéself (Dkt. 91-2). Green’s other
Motions to Strike are denied.

Darling’s Motions to Strike ar€@RANTED IN PART andDENIED IN PART for the
purposes of this summary judgment order ofiljie Court will strike the testimony of Green'’s
President regarding why AAFES bought Darlmg@roducts (Dkt. 73-4, at 12-13), and Green’
Opposition (Dkt. 100) to Darling’s Motion to Sta. Darling’s other Motions to Strike are
denied.

Green’s Motion for Summarjudgment (Dkt. 58) ISRANTED IN PART and
DENIED IN PART. Darling’s Motion for PartiaBummary Judgment (Dkt. 59) GRANTED

IN PART andDENIED IN PART . Accordingly,

192}
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1. The following claims are DISMISSED

(1) Green’s false patent marking etaunder 35 U.S.C. § 292 (Count I);

(2) Green’s Consumer Protection Act claim under RCW 19.86 (Count IlI);

(3) Darling’s Consumer Protection Ackaim under RCW 19.86 (Count IV); and

(4) Darling’s Consumer Protectiokct claim under RCW 19.86 (Count V).

2. Darling is ENTITLED TO JUDGME NT FOR LIABILITY ONLY on the
following claims:

(1) Darling’s Lanham Act claim under 158C. § 1125(a) (Count Il); and

(2) Darling’s Lanham Act claim under 15.S.C. § 1125(a) (Count IlI).

3. The following claims may PROCEED to triat

(1) Green’s Lanham Act claim under LBS.C. § 1125(a) (Count Il);

(2) Green’s business defamation/proddisiparagement claim (Count IV);

(3) Darling’s Lanham Act claim under 15.S.C. § 1125(a) (Count I);

(4) Darling’s trademark infringement ctaiunder 15 U.S.C. § 1125/1114 (Count VI);

(5) Darling’s trademark infringemeitaim under common law (Count VII);

(6) Darling’s Lanham Act claim under 15 U.S&1125(a) (Count Il) as to damages
only; and

(7) Darling’s Lanham Act claim under 15 U.S&1125(a) (Count Ill) as to damages

only.
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The Clerk is directed to send uncertified cométhis Order to all counsel of record ar
to any party appearing pro sesaid party’s last known address.

Dated this 9th day of October, 2012.

f oI

ROBERTJ.BRYAN
United States District Judge
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